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Objectives and Strategy 
The members present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2024. 

Legal Status 

The Corporation was established under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the purpose of 
conducting Hereward College. The College is an exempt charity for the purposes of part 3 of the Charities 
Act 2011. 

Vision 

The College’s Vision is: 

“Each learner’s experience at Hereward College will prepare them for the next stage of their life, with 
outstanding employability skills and much greater control over their own future. Their growing 
independence and well-being will enable their talents to shine.” 

Public Benefit Statement 

Hereward College is a national general Further Education College located in Coventry attracting 
residential learners from across England and Wales as well as day learners from the Midlands. The 
College offers inclusive provision for all learners, with specialist facilities for learners with a variety of 
special educational needs, including complex physical and sensory impairments, medical conditions, 
social, emotional and communication difficulties and learning difficulties and disabilities. 

Hereward College is an exempt charity under Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011 and is regulated by the 
Secretary of State for Education. The members of the Governing Body, who are trustees of the charity, 
are disclosed on pages 17 to 19. 

In delivering its mission, the college provides identifiable public benefits through the advancement of 
education to approximately 330 day students and 10 residential students, all with high needs. The 
college provides courses without charge to young people, to those who are unemployed and adults 
taking English and maths course. The college adjusts its courses to meet the needs of local employers 
and provides training to 34 supported interns. The college is committed to providing information, advice 
and guidance to the students it enrols and to finding suitable courses for as many students as possible 
regardless of their educational background. 

The College’s mission statement is: 

“Hereward helps learners to make progress and realise their potential and ambitions. The creativity and 
skills of staff, working in partnership with the community and employers, ensure learners develop skills 
for life and work, achieve appropriate qualifications and develop safe and healthy lifestyles that prepare 
them for the future.” 

Learners entering the College join a comprehensive range of academic, vocational and independence 
programmes designed to provide them with the necessary qualifications for progression to higher 
education, employment and independence. The College seeks to raise expectations and to empower 
individuals to achieve their goals in a high-quality environment that facilitates every learner to achieve 
their potential, with a particular focus on those learners with complex learning needs. 

The provision has also been developed as a resource for employer training (Hereward Training) in skill 
areas associated with the core business of the College, particularly in relation to disability and support. 
Training opportunities are offered for staff in care homes and related services; assistive technology; and 
behaviour management for teachers and support staff. The College also provides study and assistive 
technology assessments for external clients to support access to study and employment opportunities. 
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The main purpose of the College provision is to enable learners to achieve their potential in terms of 
academic, vocational, independence and employability skills so that they are better equipped to make 
a successful transition to adult life: 

 During the year the College provided study programmes for learners from pre-entry to level 3, 
via a range of subjects including art and design, creative media, sport, business studies, ICT, 
hospitality, performing arts and music. The curriculum places a major emphasis on learning 
through practical and functional learning. Learners have maths and English as part of their study 
programme, or where they have already achieved GCSE grade 4, it is embedded into their 
learning. 

 Supporting learners to develop good employability and study skills and, where appropriate, 
raise aspirations to progress to employment, further study or independent living, the College 
has been successful in helping many learners progress into employment (including into 
Supported Internships) who would not previously have considered this to be an option. The 
increased confidence and skills of learners provide a sound basis to achieve future vocational 
aspirations and to plan for a successful transition to independence that may not have otherwise 
been within the reach of many. Learners themselves contribute to the development and 
identification of new opportunities ensuring the College is a vibrant and motivating learning 
community. 

The most recent Ofsted inspection was in April 2023 when the College was judged to be ‘Good’ for 
Overall Effectiveness, with ‘Outstanding’ grades for the provision for learners with high needs and 
behaviour and attitudes, plus the highest possible judgement in the new enhanced inspection where 
the inspectors concluded that the ‘College makes a strong contribution to meeting skills needs’. 
Inspectors recognised the strong leadership of the College and the effective arrangements for 
governance. The current strategic plan has creating outstanding provision as a major objective. 
Therefore, the highly positive inspection result has confirmed that significant progress has been made 
during the present strategic planning cycle.  

Strategic Intentions 

The College’s Strategic Intentions are: 

1 Embed the person-centred destination-led structures and develop staff to focus support for 
learners to raise their aspirations and help them to prepare for adulthood and achieve their 
goals for health, employment, independent living and being part of the community. 

2 Deliver exciting, innovative and effective learning, teaching and assessment that actively 
engages learners, develops their English and maths skills, helps them to make progress and 
enables them to achieve their goals and qualifications and move on to the next stage of their 
lives. 

3 Be pro-active to benefit learners by collaborating and working with partners, including parents 
and carers, local authorities, health and care agencies, employers and funding agencies, to 
enable the learners’ goals and ensure the SEND Code of Practice is delivered. 

4 Maximise the effectiveness of all physical and staffing resources to improve the quality of 
provision, grow Hereward Training and new services, and maintain the College’s financial health 
and viability while providing value for money. 
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Financial Objectives  

The College’s financial objectives are: 

 To achieve an annual operating surplus  
 To pursue alternative sources of funding, on a selective basis, consistent with the College’s core 

competencies, and the need for a financial contribution to its overall finances 
 To generate sufficient levels of income to support the asset base of the College 
 To further improve the College’s shorter-term liquidity 
 To fund continued capital investment 
 The College has no formal Reserves Policy but recognises the importance of reserves in the 

financial stability of any organisation and ensures that there are adequate reserves to support 
the College’s core activities. As at the balance sheet date, the Income and Expenditure reserve 
stands at £9,081k (2023: £8,154k). This increase to reserves is due in part to the decrease in 
defined pension benefit obligations as detailed in the Balance Sheet and Notes to the Accounts. 
After excluding the effects of the defined pension benefit obligations, the income and 
expenditure reserve increased by £927k from the previous year. It is the Corporation’s intention 
to increase reserves over the life of the strategic plan through the generation of annual 
operating surpluses. 

A series of performance indicators has been agreed to monitor the successful implementation of the 
financial objectives. 

Performance Indicators 

The College has developed data dashboards that set and monitor KPIs that are linked with the Strategic 
Intentions and enable progress to be reviewed and monitored. These are reported to the Corporation 
using a RAG rating system, with a particular emphasis on action taken to address underperformance. 
They include the following: 

 

KPI Target 2022/23 2023/24 2023/24 v target 
Financial Health Good Outstanding Outstanding Favourable 
Current Ratio 1.40 2.48 3.17 Favourable 
Performance Ratio 6.0% 12.6% 11.3% Favourable 
Gearing Ratio 30.0% 13.0% 10.8% Favourable 
Overall learner pass rates 98% 96% 97% Adverse 
Overall learner 
achievement rates 
excluding Functional Skills 

90% 93% 93% Favourable  

Learner achievement for 
English and maths  

73% 74% 78% Favourable  

Learner attendance rate 90% 90% 91% Favourable 
% retention rate for 
learners with mentor 
support 

95% 94% 95% Favourable 

% of staff completed core 
training 85% 95% 94% Favourable 

Sickness absence rate 
(staff) 

4.0% 4.65% 4.73% Adverse 
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KPI Target 2022/23 2023/24 2023/24 v target 

Inspection grade with 
Ofsted 

Good (with 
Good High 

Needs) 

Good (with 
Outstanding 
High Needs) 

Good (with 
Outstanding 
High Needs) 

Favourable 

Inspection grade with CQC Outstanding 
Requires 

improvement 
Requires 

improvement Adverse 

 

Each of the financial KPIs exceeded target within the year, including the current ratio. Overall learner 
pass rates was below target. The reasons for the variance has been reviewed and an action plan is in 
place. The last CQC inspection took place in September 2021 grading the College as ‘Requires 
Improvement’ overall but ‘Good’ for care. Action has been taken in relation to the highlighted issues. 

The College is committed to observing the importance of sector measures and indicators where this is 
possible. The College is required to complete the annual Finance Record for the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency (ESFA). The Finance Record produces a financial health grading. The current rating is 
Outstanding. 

Financial Results 
In order to ensure ongoing sustainability and the opportunity to develop new services, it is important 
for the College to be financially sound and effectively managed. The College generated an operating 
surplus for the year of £870k (2023: £1,118k) before FRS 102 adjustments. The impact of these 
adjustments was significant and the adjusted surplus for the year before other gains and losses was 
£1,173k surplus (2023: £466k). Total income was £13.1 million (2023: £11.6 million), including £0.2m in 
relation to FRS 102 (2023: £nil). 

Tuition fee income increased by £1,192k (18.3%) over the year driven by a small increase in the student 
number and an increase in the complexity of learner needs, in line with the College’s strategic plan. 

Pay costs were again affected by high agency staff costs, due to both staff sickness and a high number 
of vacancies at the start of the year due to an increase in the number of staff required to meet the 
additional complexity of learner needs. In September, staff received a pay award of 6.5%, with lower 
graded staff receiving an additional pay award in April in line with increases in National Living Wage. 

Despite generating income from other sources, the College has significant reliance on the ESFA and Local 
Authorities as its principal funding sources. In the year ESFA and Local Authority funding accounted for 
88.3% (2023: 89.6%) of the College’s total income. Taken together, funding for total learners, whether 
residential, day provision or internships, accounts for 91.6% of College income in the year (2023: 92.0%). 

The ESFA grant increased despite a small drop in learner numbers as it reflects an increase in the 
national funding rate. The delivery of the College’s Adult Education Budget (AEB) was below 2022/23, 
following a slow start, but improved over the course of the academic year. The allocation from the 
WMCA was exceeded and the College will seek growth funding in 2024/25. 

Income from student residences increased due to the embedding of the extended provision enabling a 
small number of residential students to remain on-site during college holidays. 

The Disability Support Assessment Centre (DSA) closed in February 2024 following the rollout of the 
new procurement model. 

In 2023/24 the College commenced developing and delivering specialist training to the hospitality sector 
supported by seed corn funding from Whitbread plc. This activity will continue in 2024/25. 
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Whilst the College has achieved a healthy surplus in the year, inflationary pressures including the rising 
cost of utilities and its subsequent effect on other sectors, and potential pay cost increases, continue to 
be of concern for 2024/25. 

Pension costs driven by FRS 102 continue to have a noticeable financial impact. In 2024/25 adjustments 
through the I&E amounted to £302k (2023: £(653)k) The Local Government Pension Scheme actuarial 
valuation as at 31 July 2024 reported a pension asset of £5.61m (2022: £4.18m). However, the College 
has taken the decision not to recognise the asset reported in the actuary’s FRS 102 pension valuation 
due to the uncertain nature of its future benefit to the College.  

Cash flows and liquidity 

Cash generated from operations continues to be strong. There was a small increase in cash balances 
held at the year-end due primarily to significant investment in fixed assets during 2023/24.  

Pension Obligations 

A key element of the overall financial position of the College is the long-term affordability of its pensions’ 
obligations to its employees. FRS 102 calculations within the financial statements are based on an end 
of year actuarial valuation incorporating projections of future investment returns and demographic 
experience many years into the future. There is inevitably a great deal of uncertainly inherent in such 
projections which may change from year to year. 

Treasury Policies and Objectives 

Treasury management is the management of the College’s cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

The College has a separate Treasury Management Policy. Following reclassification of the FE College 
sector, by the Office of National Statistics, as a public body in November 2022, the policy has been 
updated to recognise the College is now subject to the framework for financial management set out in 
Managing Public Money. 

Reserves 

The College recognises the importance of reserves in the financial stability of any organisation and 
ensures that there are adequate reserves to support the college’s core activities. In coming to this 
conclusion, the College has considered: 

 The financial impacts of strategic risks 
 The impact of working capital balances 
 Long term plans and future commitments 

The College reviews it reserves balances after excluding any liability related to the defined benefit 
pension schemes as they are not expected to lead to any short or medium-term cash outflows which 
cannot be covered from projected cash inflows. This is consistent with the Charity Commission’s 
guidance. The College is committed to increasing the income and expenditure reserve over the life of 
the strategic plan through the delivery of annual operating surpluses before the adjustments required 
by FRS 102 and this has been achieved for 2023/24. The College group’s reserves include £nil (2023: 
£nil) held as restricted reserves. As at the balance sheet date the Income and Expenditure reserve stands 
at £9.1m (2023: £8.2m). 
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Five year highlights 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 
Financial Performance      
Turnover (£000) 8,347 9,113 10,074 11,599 13,059 
Operating (Deficit)/Surplus (£000) (382) (862) (939) 466 960 
Staff costs as % of income (%) 72.5 76.2 74.9 65.3 58.9 
Interest payable (£000) 298 336 354 199 87 
      
Fixed Assets (£000) 10,435 10,258 10,166 10,239 10,224 
Cash and investments (£000) 4,247 5,423 5,953 5,855 6,007 
Net Current Assets (£000) 1,839 2,364 2,835 3,743 4,399 
Debt (£000) 1,888 1,760 1,632 1,504 1,376 
Cash Days 187.7 217.2 217.4 215.0 193.0 

 

Current and future development and performance 
Learner Numbers and Curriculum 

In 2023/24 the College had learners comprising: 

 320 were ESFA and local authority or self-funded, both residential and day 
 580 were Hereward Training learners, both distance learning and employer based 

The College curriculum continues to be responsive to learner needs, with provision ranging from pre-
entry level to level 3. The focus is on supporting learners to gain the right balance of skills, experiences 
and qualifications with which to equip them for their future, be that in employment, further study or 
increased independence. The College curriculum is designed to meet the requirements of Study 
Programmes and learners' individual needs, through a strong vocational offer, with the following 
elements, based on the Preparing for Adulthood agenda: 

 A substantial programme, which could be a qualification 
 Work-related learning experience 
 English and maths 
 Enrichment activities 
 Tutorial/Progress Coach support 
 Personal, Social, Health and Economic education (PHSE) 
 Health and well-being 
 Independent living 

 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) 

The College’s residential provision is regulated by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and is inspected 
every two years against key performance standards. The College was inspected under the revised 
inspection framework on the 30 September 2021. The final report concluded that the College was rated 
as ‘Requires Improvement’ overall, but ‘Good’ for care. An action plan to address the issues raised was 
developed, endorsed by the Board of Governors and implemented with the assistance of a consultant 
in care. The action plan was also submitted to CQC. This has not resulted in issues recruiting learners to 
the residential facility. The College was not re-inspected in 2023/24 but anticipates an inspection during 
2024/25. 
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Future Developments 

Following the successful Ofsted inspection in 2017, College leaders and governors developed a Strategic 
Plan covering the period 2018-2020. This set the direction of travel over those years and included a 
number of key strands including developing the provision to meet the needs of more complex learners, 
developing effective partnerships and creating a centre of excellence for the employment of learners 
with special needs. 

The development of the 2021-2024 Strategic Plan began towards the end of 2020/21. Whilst the four 
strategic intentions of the College remain unchanged, the revised plan recognises the progress that the 
College has made and details plans to achieve further growth in learner numbers and further 
development to the College’s provision for complex learners. 

The College has multiple and consecutive outstanding financial health grades from the ESFA and a 
judgement of outstanding for its High Needs provision from Ofsted. Therefore, the Corporation now has 
an excellent platform on which to build. The draft 2024-2027 strategic plan describes how equal access 
to high quality resources should be the next main strategic driver for the organisation and how, should 
it be realised; it would support the excellence in teaching and learning that has been built over the last 
few years. 

The Governing body commissioned a feasibility study in 2022 to consider how the college campus could 
be enhanced to provide better quality physical environments for learners to help improve vocational 
learning and well-being. These plans also included better spaces for staff and a focus on the sensory 
environment of the campus. No capital funds have been available to realise the ambitions within the 
feasibility study but the College has moved forward with smaller projects that have improved the quality 
of accommodation in many areas across the campus. 

The relationship with Whitbread PLC continues to grow and develop with the College having the prestige 
of being named within the company’s strategic plan under the “Force for Good” section. The College 
has helped Whitbread launch ground breaking Thrive Programme and is the national delivery partner 
for the initiative. In order to facilitate this work the College has created Hereward Training Services Ltd, 
incorporation date 22 October 2024, a wholly owned subsidiary which will work with Whitbread and 
others to develop supported internship opportunities across the country. 

The College recognises the importance of partnerships with major employers and especially how those 
partnerships enhance teaching, learning and assessment. Therefore, the College will continue to explore 
new and innovative partnerships with employers during 2024/25. 

Resources 

The College has various resources that it can deploy in pursuit of its strategic objectives. 

The College is continuing to develop its estate to meet the changing needs of the learners that it serves 
and has a current and up to date Accommodation Strategy. 

The value of fixed assets is shown in the balance sheet as £10.2 million. 

Financial 

The College has £10.9 million of net assets and long-term debt of £1.4 million. 

People 

The College employs an average of 239 people (expressed as headcount) during 2023/24 of which 43 
are teaching staff. 
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
The College has undertaken further work during the year to develop and embed the system of internal 
control, including financial, operational and risk management which is designed to protect the College’s 
assets and reputation. The Governing Body has overall responsibility for risk management and its 
approach to managing risks and internal controls is explained in the Statement on Corporate 
Governance. 

The College’s management undertakes a comprehensive review of the risks to which the College is 
exposed and identifies systems and procedures, including specific preventable actions which should 
mitigate any potential impact on the College. 

The internal controls are then implemented and the subsequent year’s appraisal reviews their 
effectiveness and progress against risk mitigation actions. In addition to the annual review, the College’s 
management also considers any risks which may arise as a result of a new area of work being undertaken 
by the College. 

A risk register is maintained at the strategic level which is reviewed at least annually by the Audit 
Committee and more frequently where necessary. The risk register identifies the key risks, the likelihood 
of those risks occurring, their potential impact on the College and the actions being taken to reduce and 
mitigate the risks. Risks are prioritised using a consistent scoring system. 

Outlined below is a description of the principal risk factors that affect the College. Not all the factors are 
within the College’s control. Other factors besides those listed below may also adversely affect the 
College. 

In 2023/24, there were two risks identified as significant after mitigation. These were: 

 Failure to achieve learner numbers that secure income targets 
Actions taken in mitigation include: 

o The revised budget demonstrated further growth in student numbers for 2023/24. 
Withdrawal rates have returned to pre-pandemic levels and are not a source of concern. 

o Following the decline in residential student numbers in recent years, regular updates 
have been provided to the board and the viability of the provision continues to be 
monitored. A paper provided to the board in 2020/21 indicated that the provision was 
viable with 10 students. Student numbers in 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 continue 
to meet this, noting there are 11 students this academic year. 

o In June 2022 a 49-week provision was launched, which enabled the college to retain 
two learners who would not otherwise have continued into 2022/23, with a third 
student also joining the college for the first time. During 2022/23, the provision was 
extended to 50-weeks, with four learners being accommodated. These learners 
continued into this academic year on the 50-week format. 

o Day learner applications have remained strong, and further growth is expected in 
2024/25. 
 

 Failure to engage relevant LA Commissioners and Health and Social Care Agencies in delivering 
their responsibilities 
Actions taken in mitigation include: 

o The College has worked for some years to ensure that it engages with commissioners. 
This has included attendance at a range of policy groups, invitations to engage in 
strategic discussions, relationship building at director level and working with LAs at 
different levels of the organisation to improve working practices. 
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o It was encouraging to see a continued focus on developing our strategic partnerships 
with LA colleagues in 2023/24. However, we still face several key challenges pertaining 
to the severe resource limitations local authorities face. Financial instabilities could lead 
to uncertainties and potential disruptions in the funding and support that we rely on. 

o The College continues to be represented at strategic meetings at a local and regional 
level including FE Principals and Coventry LA meeting, Special Heads Partnership, 
NatSpec Principals Forum, planning meetings for the Combined Authority and the FE 
Skills and Productivity Group 
 

There were eight risks identified as contingent. These were: 

 Failure to recruit and retain staff with the appropriate skill set, a diversity profile that matches 
the local area and succession planning that provides development opportunities 

o Staff ethnicity KPIs are reported in the HR board reports and referenced in the Equalities 
report for the Quality & Standards committee. 

o The issue of low representation of ethnic minority staff is being reported to and 
monitored by the college Board. 

o During 2023/24, the internal Equality, Diversity and Inclusion forum made up of staff 
representatives from across the college met, and offered suggestions as to how this 
issue could be addressed through our recruitment processes. 

o A comprehensive CPD programme for staff is in place and the work of the consultant 
Educational Psychologist continues to have a positive impact in terms of developing the 
staff skill set. 
 

 Failure to match accommodation to curriculum/learner requirements and developments 
o The increases in learner numbers in the previous few years have brought the site close 

to capacity. This requires both long and short-term solutions, which need to be 
compatible (e.g. not developing an area of the site that may then be ear-marked for 
demolition and rebuild). A review of the strategic plan and accommodation strategy 
also highlighted that the facilities available for catering, horticulture and dance were 
insufficient. 

o The feasibility study completed in the early summer of 2022 assessed the options for 
site development, considering both the capacity of the site and the needs of the 
curriculum strategy.  

o The feasibility study identified the land at the front of the site, bordering Tile Hill Lane 
as a practical site for a new building. This is well-positioned from reception and would 
not impact on the development of other buildings and would also mean that the prime 
land at the rear of the LRC would be retained for potential sale or development at a 
future time. 

o The plan also identified the possibility of significant re-configuration of the centre of the 
campus. 

o Further work on these developments was carried out during the Board strategy day in 
October 2023. 

o The development of this long-term plan enabled the development of other areas of the 
site, which would not be affected by the potential new build. Last year this included an 
upgrade of the horticulture tunnel, provision of outdoor exercise equipment, increased 
car parking spaces in support of growing student numbers, upgrade of the Progress 
Coaches office and improvements to the residences.  
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o The young person that hired accommodation vacated his premises in the Hive in June, 
allowing the space to be repurposed. 
 

 Failure to increase the ability of teaching and support teams to manage more complex 
presentations 
Actions taken in mitigation include: 

o  The College has continued to revise the curriculum offer and growth has been seen in 
the specialised provision for complex learners, including Foundation Plus and Aspire. In 
their inspection report of June 23, Ofsted stated “teaching and support teams skilfully 
implement a broad curriculum to meet the needs of their learners with high needs”. 

o New learners joined the residential provision with more complex presentations than 
had been previously managed. 

o Training and support were provided to staff and the learners settled in well, now 
continuing to a second year. 

o An increase has been seen in students presenting with PMLD (Profound and Multiple 
Learning Disabilities), and the environment is being adapted to reflect this. 
 

 Failure to ensure the ongoing financial viability of the College, leading to a failure to meet the 
requirements of the Bank and Local Government Pension Scheme and moving the College into 
the insolvency regime 
Actions taken in mitigation include: 

o The College continues to closely manage and report on financial risks and those 
mitigating actions taken wherever possible. 

o The finance board report detailed all ongoing in-year risks as well as commentating on 
potential risks and opportunities to the 3-year plan. The forecast position aimed to take 
a prudent but realistic view of the potential year-end surplus. 

o Affordability of the proposed pay award was considered by an SLT working group before 
presentation to the Board. 

o Regular meetings were held with the bank. 
o A deep dive was conducted into Teaching costs during the year. 
o Work has continued with efforts at all levels of the organisation to secure strong 

working relationships with LAs, particularly Coventry, Warwickshire and Solihull.  
o The Draft Budget for 2024/25 was approved by the Board in June 2024 and a Revised 

Budget approved by the Board in October 2024.  
o As a result of the recruitment of learners with more complex needs, income from Local 

Authorities has seen a further year of increase. The number of ESFA funded places is 
still behind the number of students, driving an element of ‘underfunding.’ The number 
of Element 2 places has been raised with the Local Authority. 

o The College continues to face increasing cost pressures, amid record levels of pay and 
non-pay inflation and increases in minimum wage and national insurance contributions. 
Difficulties in recruitment continues to put pressure on pay levels. 

o Job evaluation commenced during the year and will be fully implemented in 2024/25. 
 

 Failure to diversify income from dependency on high levels of ESFA income 
Actions taken in mitigation include: 

o Hereward Training Services was launched with seed funding from the Whitbread Group. 
New initiatives have been identified within this activity, which will be explored in 
2024/25. This has the potential to form a significant income stream for the college. 
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o DSA assessments income was stronger than originally anticipated until the closure of 
the centre in February following the Government re-tender. The loss of this income 
stream has been known for some time and is fully incorporated inro the 3 year plan. 

o AEB income remains challenging to deliver. However, additional income arose from the 
delivery of level 3 courses.  

o The college continues to accommodate requests for emergency respite care from 
existing learners but staffing pressures mean that the service is not being advertised. 

o The accommodation strategy and any future site developments will consider how the 
site can most effectively generate commercial income. 
 

 Failure to comply with Health & Safety legislation and Environmental Health legislation and 
meet statutory requirements 

o An annual business cycle has operated during the year which has included a review of 
key policies and procedures, the development of KPIs and the reporting of accidents 
and incidents.  

o The Director of Technical Resources, Estates and Facilities is qualified in the NEBOSH 
Certificate Occupational Health and Safety and Certificate in Fire Safety and Risk 
Management providing increased assurance for risk assessing, fire safety arrangements 
and precautions, and general occupational safety. 

o Comprehensive Health and Safety training is in place. 
o The Health and Safety Committee has representation from all areas of the College 

including senior leaders and management. 
 

 Failure to provide fit for purpose IT systems and services, limiting College productivity and 
increasing risk of Cyber-attacks and data breaches 
Activities taken in mitigation include: 

o Investment continues by maintaining hardware (computer, tablet and telephone) 
replacement ahead of end of life (firmware support) cycles. Software and peripheral 
hardware are also being maintained so that security patches can be applied as 
necessary.  

o Micro-segmentation of the network has been achieved to reduce the potential impact 
of Cyber-attacks. 

o A phishing campaign was completed during Spring 2023 and gave anticipated results. 
As a consequence, to support users further, a phishing training and testing service has 
been contracted. This will run continuously from the Autumn term 2024 and adapt to 
each users needs increasing the training content over time. All staff will be involved in 
the campaign and students will be introduced to this phishing campaign later in the 
academic year. 

o It has previously been identified that the lack of a time and attendance system limits 
the ability of the College to monitor and control staffing levels. In the absence of a 
potential software system, manual paper timesheets were replaced by an Excel 
spreadsheet template improving the ability to analyse overtime and worked hours. In 
2024/25 this will move to Every HR. 

o The new HR system has been implemented in stages in 2023/24, initially focussing on 
the employee and absence modules, with further modules to be rolled out in 24/25 
including recruitment and performance. The system will remove over-reliance on 
spreadsheets and provide management with accurate and assessable information. As 
all staff will have to log on to the system, access will be restricted according to job 
role, improving information security and the risk of data breaches.  
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o The College has implemented an enhancement to Sage50 to allow reports produced in 
Excel to automatically draw data from the finance record.  

o The College changed its payroll bureau allowing the payroll to feed directly from the 
new HR system. 
 

 Failure to ensure security and integrity of data leading to non-compliance with Data Protection 
requirements and an increase in the threat of hostile attacks 
Activities taken in mitigation include: 

o There is still a significant risk of Cyber-attack within the FE sector. 
o Multi-factor authentication (MFA) was introduced in 2021/22 for all staff and students 

and this continues to be an important part of protecting the user login in credentials by 
issuing all users with a MFA card or fob and access to a MFA app. Subscriptions continue 
to the JISC managed service to 24-hour DDoS active response, Sophos managed 
detection response (MDR) and mobile device management deployed for college mobile 
telephones. 

o A Data Protection Group operated throughout the year to ensure that the College was 
taking appropriate action to meet the new GDPR requirements, and classroom-based 
GDPR training has resumed. 

o Regular reports have been provided to the Board outlining key actions that have been 
taken during the year. 

o The increasingly stringent requirements of Cyber Essentials Plus have proved 
challenging; however, re-accreditation was achieved in 2022/23. On the advice of ESFA, 
this was not renewed in 23/24 but will be in 24/25. 

External Relationships 
In line with other colleges, Hereward has many stakeholders and partners. These include: 

 Students 
 Parents and carers 
 Staff 
 Employers 
 Premier Inn 
 Education and Skills Funding Agency 
 West Midlands Combined Authority 
 Local Authorities 
 NATSPEC 
 Association of Colleges 
 Other FE Institutions 
 Special Schools 
 Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 
 NHS 
 Trade Unions 
 Professional bodies 

The College recognises the importance of these relationships and engages in regular communication 
with them through a variety of mechanisms. 
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Trade Union Facility Time 

During the year two employees were relevant trade union officials. The employees spent between 1% 
and 50% of their working hours on facility time, which equates to 0.01% of the total pay bill. All of the 
facility time was paid time. 

Equality 
Hereward College is committed to ensuring equality of opportunity for all who learn and work here. We 
respect and value positively differences in race, gender, sexual orientation, disability, religion or belief, 
age, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnerships and pregnancy and maternity, and strive 
vigorously to remove conditions which place people at a disadvantage. 

The College monitors its performance against objectives and reviews its compliance with all relevant 
equality legislation including the Equality Act 2010. The College undertakes equality impact assessments 
on all policies and procedures. 

The College is a “Disability Confident” employer and has committed to the principles and objectives of 
the Disability Confident standard. The College considers all employment applications from disabled 
persons and guarantees an interview to any disabled applicant who meets the essential criteria for the 
post. Where an existing employee becomes disabled, every effort is made to ensure that employment 
with the College continues. The College policy is to provide training, career development and 
opportunities for promotion which, as far as possible, provide identical opportunities to those of non-
disabled employees. 

The College has committed to the “Mindful Employer” initiative to assist the mental health and wellbeing 
of staff. The College also provides refresher training and training for new starters on Equality, Diversity 
and Inclusion on an ongoing basis. 

Disability statement 

The College seeks to achieve the objectives set down in the Equality Act 2010:  

 The structure of the College focusses resources on delivering personalised and learner-centred 
services 

 Accommodation provides full access to all learners. Capital works are always planned to include 
considerations of access requirements for the spectrum of needs that learners have 

 Residential accommodation includes a range of environmental controls, telecare and assistive 
technology that meet the needs of learners with complex disabilities 

 A wide range of specialist aids and adaptations are available across the College, both in a 
classroom and a care setting that meet individual needs and support learners 

 A target has been set for 100% of all teachers to achieve a specialist teaching qualification for 
complex needs. In addition, training and development is provided to all staff to ensure the 
provision of appropriate support for learners with learning difficulties and/or disabilities and 
physical disabilities 

 Independence Learning Support staff are employed in the classroom, residences and care 
setting to provide a variety of support for learning that is tailored to meet learner needs in line 
with individual assessments 

 There is a wide range of support staff with specialist skills including a clinical multi-disciplinary 
team consisting of a clinical psychologist, psychiatrist, educational psychologist in addition to a 
speech and language therapist, physiotherapists and mentors that support learners in every 
aspect of their College life 
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 Counselling and welfare services are described in the student handbook, which is issued to 
learners at induction 

Going Concern 
After making appropriate enquiries, the corporation considers that the College has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 

Disclosure of Information to Auditors 
The members who held office at the date of approval of this report confirm that, so far as they are each 
aware, all relevant audit information has been provided to the College auditors and each member has 
taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken to be aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the College’s auditors are aware of that information. 

Approved by order of the members of the Corporation on 12 December 2024, and signed on its behalf 
by: 
 
 
 
 
 
Mrs P Dyson Mr P Cook MBE 
Chair of Governors Accounting Officer & Chief Executive 
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Key Management Personnel 
 
Paul Cook MBE Accounting Officer, Principal & Chief Executive 
Rosie Herbert Vice Principal Quality and Curriculum / Deputy Principal (from January 2024) 
Rachael Barnes Vice Principal Finance and Resources 
Paula Powditch Interim Vice Principal Finance and Resources (appointed September 2024) 
Simon Shackleton Director of Technical, Estates and Facilities 
Jane Ferguson Vice Principal Safeguarding and Pastoral Care 
Carla Hayes Interim Vice Principal Safeguarding and Pastoral Care (appointed September 2024) 
Yvonne Doherty Director of Governance 
 
 
Professional Advisers 
 
 
Financial Statements Auditor: 
Murray Smith LLP 
Darland House 
44 Winnington Street 
Northwich 
Cheshire 
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Bankers: 
Barclays Bank Plc 
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Snow Hill Queensway 
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Internal Auditors: 
ICCA Education Training and Skills Ltd (to July 2024) 
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Wbg (from August 2024) 
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55 Colmore Row 
Birmingham 
B3 2AS
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The following statement is provided to enable readers of the annual report and accounts of the College to 
obtain a better understanding of its governance and legal structure. This statement covers the period from 1 
August 2023 to 31 July 2024 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements.  

The College endeavours to conduct its business: 

 In accordance with the seven principles identified by the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
(selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership); 

 In full accordance with the guidance to colleges from the Association of Colleges in AoC Code of Good 
Governance (“the Code”); and 

 Whilst not having adopted the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018, the Corporation has due regard 
to its principles and guidance. 

In the opinion of the Governors, the College meets the provisions of the Code, and it has complied throughout 
the year ended 31 July 2024. The Governing Body recognises that, as a body entrusted with both public and 
private funds, it has a particular duty to observe the highest standards of corporate governance at all times. In 
carrying out its responsibilities, it takes full account of The Code of Good Governance for English Colleges issued 
by the Association of Colleges. 

THE CORPORATION  

The Governors (who are also trustees) who served on the Corporation during the year and up to the date of 
signature of this report were as listed below: 

 

Name Date of 
Appointment 

Term of 
Office 

Category Corporation / Committee 
membership 

Attendance 2023/24 

Mr S Brand 18.05.2017 
Re-appointed 
18.05.2021 

4 years Independent Corporation 
 
Chair of Audit Committee 
from October 2018 
 
Search & Governance 
 
 
Remuneration 

Corporation 
 
Audit 
 
 
Search & 
Governance 
 
Remuneration 
 

6/6 
 

4/4 
 
 

4/4 
 
 

2/2 

100% 
 

100% 
 
 

100% 
 
 

100% 

Mr S Bray 29.06.2023 4 years Independent Corporation 
 
Quality & Standards from 
September 2023 
 

Corporation 
 
Quality & 
Standards 
 

5/6 
 

3/4 

83% 
 

75% 

Mr P Cook 
MBE 

01.08.2017 On 
ceasing 
as 
Principal 

Staff 
Principal 

Corporation 
 
Quality & Standards 
Committee 
 
Search & Governance 
 
In Attendance: 
Remuneration Committee 
 

Corporation 
 
Quality & 
Standards 
 
Search & 
Governance 
 
Remuneration 
 

6/6 
 

4/4 
 
 

4/4 
 
 

2/2 

100% 
 

100% 
 
 

100% 
 
 

100% 
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Name Date of 
Appointment 

Term of 
Office 

Category Corporation / Committee 
membership 

Attendance 2023/24 

Mr S Crick 15.05.2020 4 years Independent Corporation 
 
Audit Committee from July 
2020 
 
Search & Governance 
 

Corporation 
 
Audit 
 
 
Search & 
Governance 
 

5/6 
 

3/4 
 
 

1/1 

83% 
 

75% 
 
 

100% 

Mr M 
Crook 

15.05.2020 
10.12.2020 
 
Resigned 
01.02.24 
  

4 years Co-opted 
Independent 

Corporation 
 
Audit Committee from July 
2020 
 

Corporation 
 
Audit 
 

0/2 
 

2/2 

0% 
 

100% 

Mr M 
Cumella 

29.06.2023 
 
 
 
 
Resigned 
30.04.24 

4 years Independent Corporation 
 
Audit Committee from 
September 2023 
 
Chair of Remuneration from 
Oct 2023 
 

Corporation 
 
Audit 
 
 
Remuneration 

4/4 
 

2/2 
 
 

2/2 

100% 
 

100% 
 
 

100% 

Mrs P 
Dyson 

29.06.2023 4 years Independent Chair of the Corporation 
from June 2023 
 
Search & Governance from 
June 2023 
 
Remuneration from Sept 
2023 
 

Corporation 
 
 
Search & 
Governance 
 
Remuneration 

4/6 
 
 

4/4 
 
 

1/2 

67% 
 
 

100% 
 
 

50% 

Ms H 
Hillyard 
 

12.01.2012 
Reappointed 
Co-opt 
12.01.2015 
12.01.2018 
12.01.2022 
 

3 years 
 
 
3 years 
4 years 
4 years  

Co-opted Audit Committee Audit 3/4 75% 

Mr I 
Meaton 
 

03.02.2022 4 years 
 

Staff 
 

Corporation  Corporation 5/6 83% 

Ms L 
Miervaldis 

09.02.2017 
Resigned 
15.10.2020 
 
Reappointed 
30.06.2022 
 

4 years 
 

Staff 
 

Corporation 
 
Quality & Standards from 
March 2023 
 

Corporation 
 
Quality & 
Standards 

5/6 
 
3/4 

83% 
 

75% 
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Name Date of 
Appointment 

Term of 
Office 

Category Corporation / Committee 
membership 

Attendance 2023/24 

Ms N 
Paterson 

29.06.2023 4 years 
 

Independent Corporation 
 
Quality & Standards from 
September 2023 
 
Audit 
 

Corporation 
 
Quality & 
Standards 
 
Audit 

6/6 
 

3/4 
 
 

1/1  

100% 
 

75% 
 
 

100% 

Mr K 
Sonecha 

15.05.2020 
14.10.2021 
 
Term of office 
expired 
14.05.24 
 

4 years Co-opted 
Independent 

Corporation from 
14.10.2021 
 
Audit Committee from July 
2020 
 

Corporation 
 
 
Audit 

1/4 
 
 

3/3 

25% 
 
 

100% 

Mr C Todd 01.01.2018 
Reappointed  
01.01.2022 

4 years Independent Vice Chair of Corporation 
from October 2018 
 
Quality & Standards from 
July 2020, Chair from 
November 2020 
 
Search & Governance 
Committee 
 
Remuneration Committee 
 

Corporation 
 
 
Quality & 
Standards 
 
 
Search & 
Governance 
 
Remuneration 

6/6 
 
 

4/4 
 
 
 

4/4 
 
 

2/2 

100% 
 
 

100% 
 
 
 

100% 
 
 

100% 

Ms N 
Williams 

12.05.2022 4 years Independent Corporation 
Safeguarding Governor 
 
Quality & Standards from 
16.06.2022 
 
Search &Governance 

Corporation  
 
 
Quality & 
Standards 
 
Search & 
Governance 
 

4/6 
 
 

4/4 
 
 

1/2 

67% 
 
 

100% 
 
 

50% 

 
Average attendance for 2023/24 was 81%. 

Yvonne Doherty, Director of Governance, is the Clerk to the Corporation. 

It is the Corporation’s responsibility to bring independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, performance, 
resources and standards of conduct. 

The Corporation is provided with regular and timely information on the overall financial performance of the 
College together with other information such as performance against funding targets, proposed capital 
expenditure, quality matters and personnel related matters such as health and safety and environmental issues. 
The Corporation met six times during 2023/24. 

The Corporation conducts its business through a number of committees. Each committee has terms of reference, 
which have been approved by the Corporation. These committees are Quality and Standards, Audit, 
Remuneration and Search and Governance. Full minutes of all meetings, except those deemed to be confidential 
by the Corporation, are available from the Director of Governance at: 
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Hereward College 
Bramston Crescent 
Tile Hill Lane 
Coventry  
CV4 9SW 

The Clerk to the Corporation maintains a register of financial and personal interests of the governors. The 
register is available for inspection at the above address.  

All governors are able to take independent professional advice in furtherance of their duties at the College’s 
expense and have access to the Director of Governance who in the role of Clerk, is responsible to the Board for 
ensuring that all applicable procedures and regulations are complied with. The appointment, evaluation and 
removal of the Clerk are matters for the Corporation as a whole. 

Formal agendas, papers and reports are supplied to governors in a timely manner, prior to Board meetings. 
Briefings are also provided on an ad-hoc basis. 

The Corporation has a strong and independent non-executive element, and no individual or group dominates 
its decision-making process. The Corporation considers that each of its non-executive members is independent 
of management and free from any business or other relationship, which could materially interfere with the 
exercise of their independent judgement.  

There is a clear division of responsibility in that the roles of the Chair of the Corporation and Accounting Officer 
of the College are separate. 

APPOINTMENTS TO THE CORPORATION 

Any new appointments to the Corporation are a matter for the consideration of the Corporation as a whole. 
The Corporation has a Search and Governance Committee comprising a minimum of four members, which is 
responsible for the selection and nomination of any new member for the Corporation’s consideration. The 
Corporation is responsible for ensuring that appropriate training is provided as required. 

In June 2016 the Search and Governance Committee considered the term of appointment and best practice 
with regard to the number of terms of office. It recommended to the Corporation that new appointments and 
re-appointments be for a term of office not exceeding four years. Governors will also not normally serve more 
than two terms of office (8 years) except where subsequently undertaking a new and more senior role, for 
example as Chair. This was approved by the Corporation. 

CORPORATION PERFORMANCE 

In 2021/22, following the review of AoC Code of Good Governance, the Search and Governance Committee 
considered the various governance codes adopted within the Further Education (FE) sector. As a result, the 
Committee recommended that the Corporation adopt the AoC Code of Good Governance (2021). The 
Corporation is aware of the revised Further Education Code of Good Governance (2024) and the Search and 
Governance Committee will review this in 2024/25 with a view to adoption. 

Furthermore, under the 2022/23 Funding Agreement the Corporation is required to conduct an annual 
governance self-assessment (except in the year of an external governance review) and must have an external 
governance review at least once every three years, based on the governance code(s) used by the Governing 
Body.  

In 2023/24 an External Governance Review was commissioned and completed by Mrs Shirley Collier, MBE. 

The review concluded ‘that the board of Hereward College is proficient and impacts on college strategy, 
effectiveness, and outcomes. Governance provides senior management with one of its lines of defence; the 
current approach should give assurance to stakeholders that the college is managing its assets prudently and 
putting the student experience at the heart of its deliberations’ 
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Newly appointed governors participate in an induction programme and receive an information pack providing 
detailed material on the College. An existing governor can act as a mentor to each newly appointed member, 
giving guidance and advice as required. Where available, governors are also invited to complete the induction 
programme for new governors facilitated by the AoC/ETF. 

During 2023/24  
 Members of the Corporation were specifically invited to take part in external Masterclasses facilitated 

by the AOC,  
 The College has previously registered governors with the Education and Training Foundation (ETF) to 

provide access to the ETF Governor Development Programme. 
 Safeguarding Training delivered by the Safeguarding and Risk Manager 

The provision of internal training, both online and face to face, was also maintained. This included:  
 On-line GDPR 
 On-line Equality and Diversity 
 Face to face Safeguarding  
 Governor Induction Programme (internal and external). 

SEARCH AND GOVERNANCE 

The Search and Governance Committee comprises a minimum of four members of the Board including the 
Accounting Officer. The Committee’s responsibilities are to make recommendations to the Board, the 
appointment of new members and policies specific to the operation of college governance. 

Average attendance for 2023/24 was 95%. 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

The Remuneration Committee comprises four members of the Board with the Accounting Officer in attendance 
at Committee meetings. The Committee’s responsibilities are to make recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration and benefits of all staff including the Accounting Officer and other senior postholders, and to 
consider and approve any significant staffing changes. 

Details of remuneration for the year ended 31 July 2024 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements. 

Average attendance for 2023/24 was 88%. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Audit Committee comprises four members of the Board and a co-opted member (excluding the Accounting 
Officer and Chair). The Committee operates in accordance with written terms of reference approved by the 
Corporation. Its purpose is to advise the Corporation on the adequacy and effectiveness of the College’s system 
of internal control and its arrangements for risk management control and governance processes. 

The Audit Committee met four times during 2023/24 and provides a forum for reporting by the College’s 
internal and financial statement auditors who have access to the Committee for independent discussion 
without the presence of College management. The Committee also receives and considers reports from the 
main FE funding bodies as they affect the College’s business and from other bodies as appropriate. 

The College’s internal auditors monitor the systems of internal control, risk management controls and 
governance processes in accordance with an agreed plan of input and report their findings to management and 
the Audit Committee. 

Management is responsible for the implementation of agreed audit recommendations and internal audit 
undertake periodic follow up reviews to ensure recommendations have been implemented. 

The Audit Committee also advises the Corporation on the appointment of internal and financial statement 
auditors and their remuneration for both audit and non-audit work. 
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Average attendance for 2023/24 was 91%. 

QUALITY AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

Over the year ending 31 July 2024, membership of the College’s Quality and Standards Committee comprised 
six members of the Corporation (allowing for appointments and resignations). Its purpose is to monitor and 
review the educational character and quality of provision at the College by setting and monitoring key 
performance indicators and working with the Senior Leadership Team to drive up standards, actively promote 
equality and diversity, and narrow achievement gaps. 

Average attendance for 2023/24 was 88%. 

INTERNAL CONTROL 

Scope of responsibility 

The Corporation is ultimately responsible for the College’s system of internal control and for reviewing its 
effectiveness. However, such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement 
or loss. 

The Corporation has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Principal, as Accounting Officer, for 
maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of the College’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which he is personally responsible, in 
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to him in the Financial Memorandum between Hereward College 
and the funding bodies. He is also responsible for reporting to the Corporation any material weaknesses or 
breakdowns in internal control. 

The purpose of the system of internal control 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk 
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of college policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively 
and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in Hereward College for the year ended 31 
July 2024 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts. 

Capacity to handle risk 

The Corporation has reviewed the key risks to which the College is exposed together with the operating, 
financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The Corporation is of 
the view that there is a formal ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the College's significant 
risks that has been in place for the year ending 31 July 2024 and up to the date of approval of the annual report 
and accounts. This process is regularly reviewed by the Corporation. 

The risk and control framework 

The system of internal control is based on a framework of regular management information, administrative 
procedures including the segregation of duties, and a system of delegation and accountability. In particular, it 
includes: 

 Comprehensive budgeting systems with an annual budget which is reviewed and agreed by the 
Corporation 

 Regular reviews by the Corporation of periodic and annual financial reports which indicate financial 
performance against forecasts 

 Setting targets to measure financial and other performance 
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 Clearly defined capital investment control guidelines 
 The adoption of formal project management disciplines, where appropriate 

Hereward College has an Internal Audit Service, which operates in accordance with the requirements of the 
ESFA’s Post 16 Audit Code of Practice. The work of the Internal Audit Service is informed by an analysis of the 
risks to which the College is exposed, and annual internal audit plans are based on this analysis. 

The analysis of risks and the internal audit plans are endorsed by the Corporation on the recommendation of 
the Audit Committee. At minimum annually, the Internal Audit Service provider presents the Corporation with 
a report on internal audit activity in the College. The report includes their independent opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the College’s system of risk management, controls and governance processes. 

Responsibilities under accountability agreements 

The Corporation has met its contractual obligations under its funding agreements with the ESFA through its 
work in its sub-committees, reports from management, and reliance on the work of internal and external 
auditors. 

The Department for Education (DfE) and Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) introduced new controls 
for the College on 29 November 2022 on the day that the Office for National Statistics reclassified colleges as 
public sector organisations in the national accounts. The ESFA chief executive communicated these changes to 
all college accounting officers and explained plans to introduce a college financial handbook in 2024. The 
College has reviewed its policies, procedures and approval processes in line with these new requirements to 
ensure there are systems in place to identify and handle any transactions for which DfE approval is required. 

Statement from the audit committee 

The Audit Committee has advised the Board of Governors that the Corporation has an effective framework for 
governance and risk management in place. The Audit Committee believes the Corporation has effective internal 
controls in place. 

The specific areas of work undertaken by the Audit Committee in 2023/24 and up to the date of the approval 
of the financial statements include: 

 Maintaining the delivery of assurances over risk management and internal controls in light of the 
development, and delivery, of the agreed Strategic Plan for the College 

 Policy review, approval and recommendation to the Corporation 
 Provision of an annual opinion on adequacy and effectiveness of College audit arrangements and 

processes with regard to governance, risk management and control and for achieving economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness, the solvency of the College and safeguarding of its assets 

 Review of the Strategic Risk Register and accompanying action list at each meeting 
 Adoption of a process of ‘Deep Dives’ where specific risks are identified from the Strategic Risk Register 

with detail and assurance provided on the management of these risks. One Deep Dive was presented 
during the year 

 Monitoring the work of both the internal and external audit providers against a range of KPI’s 
 A table summarising the work of the internal auditors is set out below, noting the Audit Committee 

receives regular updates on the implementation of recommendations: 
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Review of effectiveness 

As Accounting Officer, the Principal has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control. The Accounting Officer’s review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by: 

 The work of the internal auditors and Audit Committee 
 The work of the executive managers within the College who have responsibility for the 

development and maintenance of the internal control framework 
 Comments made by the College’s financial statements auditors and regularity auditors in their audit 

findings report and other reports 

The Accounting Officer has been advised on the implications of the result of the review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control by the Audit Committee which oversees the work of the internal auditor and 
other sources of assurance, and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the 
system is in place. 

The Senior Leadership Team receives reports setting out key performance and risk indicators and considers 
possible control issues brought to their attention by early warning mechanisms, which are embedded within 
the departments and reinforced by risk awareness training. The Senior Leadership Team and the Audit 
Committee also receive regular reports from Internal Audit, and other sources of assurance which include 
recommendations for improvement. The Audit Committee's role in this area is confined to a high-level review 
of the arrangements for internal control. 

The Corporation's agenda includes a regular item for consideration of risk and control and receives reports 
thereon from the Senior Leadership Team and the Audit Committee. 

The emphasis is on obtaining the relevant degree of assurance and not merely reporting by exception. At its 
meeting on 12 December 2024, the Corporation carried out the annual assessment for the year ended 31 July 
2024, by considering reports from the Senior Leadership Team and Internal Audit and taking account of events 
since 31 July 2024. 

Based on the advice of the Audit Committee and the Accounting Officer, the Corporation is of the opinion the 
College has an adequate and effective framework for governance, risk management and control, and has 

Hereward College – Internal Audit Opinions and Recommendations 2023/24 No. of recommendations & priority 

Audit Title Design 
Application/
Compliance 

Overall 
Assurance 

H M L 

16 -18 Student Admissions 
Process 

Good Good Substantial - - - 

Learner Attendance, Retention 
and Intervention 

Good Good Substantial - - 1 

Key Financial Controls Good Adequate Substantial - 2 - 

ESFA Mock Funding Audit Good Adequate Reasonable - 2 1 

Follow-up of Previous Internal 
Recommendations 

N/A N/A Substantial  1  

Total number of recommendations  5 2 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6E74782D-079B-4E47-A1AE-FDE2B898B24E



HEREWARD COLLEGE 
STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
For the year ended 31 July 2024 
 

 

25 
 

fulfilled its responsibility for “the effective and efficient use of resources, the solvency of the institution and the 
corporate body and the safeguarding of their assets”. 

Approved by order of the members of the Corporation on 12 December 2024 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
Mrs P Dyson Mr P Cook MBE 
Chair of Governors Accounting Officer & Chief Executive 
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As Accounting Officer, I confirm that the Corporation has had due regard to the framework of authorities 
governing regularity, propriety and compliance, and the requirements of grant funding agreements and 
contracts with ESFA, and has considered its responsibility to notify ESFA of material irregularity, 
impropriety and non-compliance with those authorities and terms and conditions of funding.  

I confirm on behalf of the Corporation that after due enquiry, and to the best of my knowledge, I am 
able to identify any material irregular or improper use of funds by the Corporation, or material non-
compliance with the framework of authorities and the terms and conditions of funding under the 
Corporation’s grant funding agreements and contracts with ESFA, or any other public funder. This 
includes the elements outlined in the “Dear accounting officer” letter of 29 November 2022 and ESFA’s 
bite size guides. 

I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance, or non-
compliance with the framework of authorities, have been discovered to date. If any instances are 
identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to ESFA.  

 
 
 
 
 
Mr P Cook MBE 
Accounting Officer & Chief Executive 
12 December 2024 
 
 
 
Statement of the Chair of Governors 

On behalf of the Corporation, I confirm that the Accounting Officer has discussed their statement of 
regularity, propriety and compliance with the board and that I am content that it is materially accurate.  
 
 
 
 
 
Mrs P Dyson 
Chair of Governors 
12 December 2024 
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The members of the Corporation, as charity trustees, are required to present audited financial 
statements for each financial year. 

Within the terms and conditions of the Corporation’s grant funding agreements and contracts with 
ESFA, the Corporation is required to prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of the 
financial performance and position of the Corporation for the relevant period. Corporations must also 
prepare a strategic report which includes an operating and financial review for the year. The bases for 
the preparation of the financial statements and strategic report are the Statement of Recommended 
Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education, ESFA’s College Accounts Direction and the UK’s 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Corporation is required to:  

 select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently  
 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent  
 state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements  
 assess whether the Corporation is a going concern, noting the key supporting assumptions, 

qualifications or mitigating actions as appropriate  
  prepare financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to assume 

that the Corporation will continue in operation 

The Corporation is also required to prepare a strategic report which describes what it is trying to do and 
how it is going about it, including information about the legal and administrative status of the 
Corporation. 

The Corporation is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose, with reasonable 
accuracy at any time, the financial position of the Corporation and which enable it to ensure that the 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with relevant legislation including the Further and 
Higher Education Act 1992 and Charities Act 2011, and relevant accounting standards. It is responsible 
for taking steps that are reasonably open to it to safeguard its assets and to prevent and detect fraud 
and other irregularities. 

The Corporation is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of its website; the work carried out by 
auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, auditors accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were 
initially presented on the website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Members of the Corporation are responsible for ensuring that expenditure and income are applied for 
the purposes intended and that the financial transactions conform to the authorities that govern them. 
In addition, they are responsible for ensuring that funds from ESFA, and any other public funds, are used 
only in accordance with ESFA’s grant funding agreements and contracts and any other conditions, that 
may be prescribed from time to time by ESFA, or any other public funder, including that any transactions 
entered into by the Corporation are within the delegated authorities set out in the “Dear accounting 
officer” letter of 29 November 2022 and ESFA’s bite size guides. Members of the Corporation must ensure 
that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard public and other 
funds and ensure they are used properly. In addition, members of the Corporation are responsible for 
securing economic, efficient and effective management of the Corporation’s resources and expenditure 
so that the benefits that should be derived from the application of public funds from ESFA and other 
public bodies are not put at risk.  
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Approved by order of the members of the Corporation on 12 December 2024 and signed on its behalf 
by:  

 
 
 
 
 
Mrs P Dyson 
Chair of Governors 
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Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Hereward College (the ‘College’) for the year ended 31 July 
2024 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure, the Statement of 
Changes in Reserves, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 
102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and the Accounts Direction 2023 to 2024 issued by the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA). 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 
• give a true and fair view of the state of the College’s affairs as at 31 July 2024 and of its income 

and expenditure for the year then ended; 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice; 
• have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice; Accounting 

for Further and Higher Education (the 2019 FE HE SORP) and the Accounts Direction 2023 to 
2024 issued by the ESFA. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the College in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Corporation’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast doubt on the College’s ability to continue 
as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Corporation, as a body, with respect to going concern 
are described in the relevant sections of this report. 

Other information 

The members of the Corporation are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our 
Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
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misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the College and its environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Report of the Governing Body. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters prescribed by the Post 16 Audit Code of 
Practice issued by the Education and Skills Funding Agency which requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion: 

• proper accounting records have not been kept; 
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
• all of the information and explanations required for the audit were not received. 

Responsibilities of the Corporation Body 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities of the Members of the Corporation set out 
on page 27, the Corporation is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Corporation determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Corporation is responsible for assessing the College’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Corporation either intends to liquidate the College or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Independent 
Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect 
of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 

The audit procedures designed to identify irregularities included: 
• enquiry of management and those charged with governance around actual and potential 

litigation and claims 
• enquiry of College staff with responsibilities for compliance matters to identify any instances of 

non-compliance with laws and regulations 
• reviewing financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess 

compliance with applicable laws and regulations 
• Auditing the risk of management override of controls, including through testing journal entries 

and other adjustments for appropriateness, and evaluating the business rationale of significant 
transactions outside the normal course of business. 
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There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial 
statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, intentional misrepresentations or through 
collusion. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 
part of our Independent Auditor’s Report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Corporation, as a body, in accordance with Article 22 of the College’s 
Articles of Government. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Corporation, 
as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the College and the Corporation, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

 
 
 
 
 
Murray Smith LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor  
Darland House 
44 Winnington Hill 
Northwich 
Cheshire  
CW8 1AU 
 
12 December 2024 
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In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 23 May 2023 and further to the 
requirements and conditions of funding in ESFA’s grant funding agreements and contracts, or those of 
any other public funder, we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether 
anything has come to our attention that would suggest, in all material respects, the expenditure 
disbursed and income received by Hereward College during the period 1 August 2023 to 31 July 2024 
have not been applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and the financial transactions do not 
conform to the authorities which govern them. 

The framework that has been applied is set out in the Post 16 Audit Code of Practice (“the Code”) issued 
by the ESFA and in any relevant conditions of funding concerning adult education notified by a relevant 
funder. In line with this framework, our work has specifically not considered income received from the 
main funding grants generated through the Individualised Learner Record data returns, for which the 
ESFA or devolved authority has other assurance arrangements in place. 

This report is made solely to the Corporation of Hereward College and ESFA in accordance with the 
terms of our engagement letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Corporation of Hereward College and the ESFA those matters we are required to state in a report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Corporation of Hereward College and the ESFA for our work, for this report, 
or for the conclusion we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Hereward College and the reporting accountant 

The Corporation of Hereward College is responsible, under the requirements of the Further & Higher 
Education Act 1992, subsequent legislation and related regulations and guidance, for ensuring that 
expenditure disbursed and income received are applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and 
the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession’s 
ethical guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement 
letter and the requirements of the Code. We report to you whether anything has come to our attention 
in carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and income 
received during the period 1 August 2023 to 31 July 2024 have not been applied to purposes intended 
by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Approach 

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Code issued by the ESFA. We performed a 
limited assurance engagement as defined in that framework. 

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information 
and explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative 
conclusion on regularity. 

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and 
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant 
matters that might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express 
a positive opinion. 

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity of the 
College’s income and expenditure. 

The work undertaken to draw to our conclusion includes: 
• review of evidence supporting the College’s Regularity Self-Assessment; and 
• review of the College’s expenditure during the year 
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Conclusion 

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects 
the expenditure disbursed and income received during the period 1 August 2023 to 31 July 2024 has 
not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to 
the authorities which govern them. 

 
 
 
 
 
Murray Smith LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Statutory Auditors 
Darland House 
44 Winnington Hill 
Northwich 
CW8 1AU 
 
12 December 2024 
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2024 2023
Notes £’000 £’000

INCOME
Funding body grants 3 4,268      4,183      
Other grants 4 5              77            
Tuition fees 5 7,689      6,497      
Other income 6 565         651         
Investment income 7 532         191         

TOTAL INCOME 13,059    11,599    

EXPENDITURE
Staff costs 8 7,695      7,578      
Other operating expenses 9 3,490      2,791      
Depreciation 11 614         565         
Interest payable and other finance costs 10 87            199         

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 11,886    11,133    

Surplus before tax 1,173      466         

Taxation -               -               

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR   1,173      466         

Remeasurement of net defined benefit pension (asset)/liability 16 (304) 3,393      

TOTAL UNRESTRICTED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 869         3,859      

All items of income and expenditure relate to continuing activities. 
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£’000 £’000 £’000

TOTAL NET ASSETS AT 1 AUGUST 2022 4,237      1,955      6,192      

Surplus for the year 466         -               466         
Other Comprehensive Income 3,393      -               3,393      

58            (58) -               

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 3,917      (58) 3,859      

TOTAL NET ASSETS AT 31 JULY 2023 8,154      1,897      10,051    

Surplus for the year 1,173      -               1,173      
Other Comprehensive Income (304) -               (304)

58            (58) -               

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 927         (58) 869         

TOTAL NET ASSETS AT 31 JULY 2024 9,081      1,839      10,920    

Income and 
Expenditure 

reserve
Revaluation 

reserve Total

Transfers between Revaluation and Income and Expenditure 
Reserves

Transfers between Revaluation and Income and Expenditure 
Reserves

35

Docusign Envelope ID: 6E74782D-079B-4E47-A1AE-FDE2B898B24E



HEREWARD COLLEGE
BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 July 2024

 2024 2023
Notes £’000 £’000

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assets 11 10,224    10,239    

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 10,224    10,239    

CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors 12 562         407         
Cash at bank and in hand 6,007      5,855      

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 6,569      6,262      

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year 13 (2,170) (2,519)

NET CURRENT ASSETS 4,399      3,743      

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 14,623    13,982    

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after more than one year 14 (3,673) (3,898)

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES
Defined benefit pension scheme 16 -               -               
Other provisions 16 (30) (33)

TOTAL NET ASSETS 10,920    10,051    

                          

UNRESTRICTED RESERVES
Income and expenditure reserve 9,081      8,154      
Revaluation reserve 1,839      1,897      

TOTAL RESERVES 10,920    10,051    

Mrs P Dyson - Chair of Governors

Mr P Cook MBE - Accounting Officer & Chief Executive

The financial statements on pages 34 to 57 were approved by the governing body and authorised for issue 
on 12 December 2024 and were signed on its behalf by:  
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2024 2023
Notes £’000 £’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations 17 646         570         
Taxation paid -               -               

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 646         570         

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income 319         191         
Payments made to acquire fixed assets 11 (599) (638)

(280) (447)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid 10 (86) (93)
Repayments of amounts borrowed (128) (128)

(214) (221)

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE YEAR 152         (98)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 AUGUST 2023 5,855      5,953      
                          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 JULY 2024 6,007      5,855      
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

GENERAL INFORMATION

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

GOING CONCERN

Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest whole £1,000, except 
where otherwise indicated. 

Hereward College is a Corporation established under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 as an 
English general college of further education. The address of the College’s principal place of business is 
given on page 20. The nature of the College’s operations are set out in the Report of the Governing 
Body. 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended 
Practice (SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2019 (F&HE SORP 2019), the College 
Accounts Direction 2023/24 and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 – ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland’ (FRS 102) and under the 
historical cost convention modified to include the revaluation of freehold property. The College is a 
public benefit entity and has therefore applied the relevant public benefit requirements of FRS 102.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying the College’s 
accounting policies.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been applied consistently to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements are presented in sterling which is also the functional currency of the College.

The activities of the College, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and 
performance are set out in the Report of the Governing Body. 

At the time of approving the financial statements, the governors have a reasonable expectation that the 
College has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, 
the governors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial 
statements. Management has assessed the going concern assumption and confirm that it remains 
appropriate based on the forecast performance over the next twelve months and a strong cash and net 
asset position which will enable it to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due.

The College currently has £1.38m of loans outstanding with bankers on terms negotiated in 2007. The 
terms of the existing agreement are for another 11 years. The College’s forecasts and financial 
projections indicate that it will be able to operate within this existing facility and covenants for the 
foreseeable future. 

The governors make this assessment in respect of a period of at least one year from the date of 
authorisation for issue of the financial statements and have concluded that the college has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and there are no material 
uncertainties about the college's ability to continue as a going concern. Thus they continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.
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HEREWARD COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2024

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

RECOGNITION OF INCOME

Grants – government and non-government

Other income

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Grants from non-government sources, including grants relating to assets, are recognised in income 
when the College has met the performance-related conditions and the grant will be received. Income 
received in advance of performance related conditions being met is recognised as a liability.

Government capital grants for assets, other than land, are accounted for under the accrual model. The 
grant income received or receivable will be recognised over the expected useful life of the asset, with 
any amount of the asset-related grant that is deferred being recognised as deferred income. The 
deferred income is allocated between creditors due within one year and those due after more than one 
year.

Income from Tuition Fees is recognised in the period for which it is earned and includes all fees payable 
by learners or their sponsors.

Retirement benefits to employees of the College are provided by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) 
and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), which are multi-employer defined benefit plans. 

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and the contributions to the TPS are calculated so as to spread the cost 
of pensions over employees’ working lives with the College in such a way that the pension cost is a 
substantially level percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are 
determined by the government actuary on the basis of valuations using a projected unit method. The 
TPS is a multi-employer scheme but sufficient information is not available to use defined benefit 
accounting and therefore it is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme, with the amount 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income being the contributions payable in the year. 
Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as 
either accruals or prepayments. 

All income from short-term deposits is credited to the income and expenditure account in the period in 
which it is earned.

Government revenue grants are accounted for under the accrual model and are recognised where a 
reliable estimate of the fair value of the asset received or receivable can be made on a systematic basis 
over the periods in which the related costs for which the grant compensates are recognised. 

Funding body recurrent grants are measured in line with best estimates for the year of what is 
receivable and depend on the particular income stream involved. Any under-achievement of the Adult 
Education Budget is adjusted for and reflected in the level of recurrent grant recognised in the income 
and expenditure account. The final grant income is normally determined with the conclusion of the year 
end reconciliation process with the funding body following the year end. Where this process involves 
negotiations in respect of over-achievement or adjustment to claw back in respect of under-
achievement, where negotiations are subsequent to the year end, they are not reflected in the income 
recognised. 

16-18 learner-responsive funding is not normally subject to reconciliation and is therefore not subject 
to contract adjustments and is recognised when receivable. 
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HEREWARD COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 July 2024

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

SHORT TERM EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

ENHANCED PENSIONS

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

LAND AND BUILDINGS

EQUIPMENT

DEPRECIATION AND RESIDUAL VALUES

  Freehold buildings 2% per year 
  Building Improvements 10% per year
  Fixtures and fittings 20% per year
  Office equipment 15% per year
  Computers 33% per year

The LGPS is a funded scheme, and the assets of the scheme are held separately. Pension schemes are 
measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 
method. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet 
date. The amounts charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and the costs of scheme 
introductions, benefit changes, settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs. 
The net interest cost on the net defined benefit liability/asset is charged to comprehensive income and 
included within finance costs. Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains and losses and the return on 
scheme assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability) are 
recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. 

Short-term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences (holiday pay) are 
recognised as an expense in the year in which the employees render service to the College. Any unused 
benefits are accrued and measured as the additional amount the College expects to pay as a result of 
the unused entitlement.

The actual cost of any enhanced on-going pension to former members of staff is paid by the College 
annually. An estimate of the expected future costs of any enhancement to the on-going pension of 
former members of staff is charged in full to the College’s income and expenditure account in the year 
that the staff member retires. In subsequent years, a charge is made to provisions in the balance sheet 
using the enhanced pension spreadsheet provided by the funding bodies.

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Land and buildings are stated at cost (or deemed cost for land and buildings held at valuation at the 
date of transition to FRS 102) less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Equipment costing less than £1,000 per individual item or set of items acquired together is 
recognised as expenditure in the period of acquisition. All other equipment is capitalised and 
recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated, using the straight line 
basis, to write off the cost of each asset to its estimated residual value over its expected useful life, 
as follows: 
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IMPAIRMENTS OF FIXED ASSETS

LEASED ASSETS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying 
value of fixed assets and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. Impairment losses 
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Residual value is calculated on prices prevailing at the reporting date, after estimated costs of 
disposal for the asset as if it were at the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful 
life. 

Subsequent costs, including replacement parts, are only capitalised when it is probable that such 
costs will generate future economic benefits. Any replaced parts are then derecognised. All other 
costs of repairs and maintenance are expenses as incurred. 

Costs in respect of operating leases are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.  

The College has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in full in respect of financial 
instruments. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the College becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial liabilities and equity are classified according to the substance of the financial instrument’s 
contractual obligations, rather than the financial instrument’s legal form. 

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at transaction price (including transaction costs), 
except for those financial assets measured at fair value through the income and expenditure account, 
which are initially measured at fair value (which is normally the transaction price excluding transaction 
costs), unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. A financial asset or financial liability 
that is payable or receivable in one year is measured at the undiscounted amount expected to be 
received or paid net of impairment, unless it is a financing transaction. If an arrangement constitutes a 
financing transaction, the financial asset or financial liability is measured at the present value of the 
future payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset only when there is a current legally enforceable right 
to set off the recognised amounts and the intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

TAXATION

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

AGENCY ARRANGEMENTS

The College acts as an agent in distributing discretionary support funds from the funding bodies. 
Payments received from the funding bodies and subsequent disbursements to students are excluded 
from the income and expenditure of the College where the College does not have control of the 
economic benefit related to the transaction. 

A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual rights to cash flows expire or are settled, or 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to another party, or if some 
significant risks and rewards of ownership are retained but control of the asset has transferred to 
another party that is able to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party. A financial liability 
(or part thereof) is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, 
or expires.

The College is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 2010 and 
therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, 
the College is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within 
categories covered by sections 478-488 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation 
of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to 
charitable purposes. 

The College receives no similar exemption in respect of Value Added Tax (VAT).  For this reason, the 
College is generally unable to recover input VAT it suffers on goods and services purchased. Non-pay 
expenditure and the cost of tangible fixed assets are therefore shown inclusive of VAT with any partial 
recovery netted off against these figures.

Provisions are recognised when the College has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount expected to be required to settle 
the obligation is recognised at present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific 
to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost in the statement of 
comprehensive income in the period it arises. 
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2 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

CRITICAL AREAS OF JUDGEMENT

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

   Tangible fixed assets 

   Local Government Pension Scheme 

   Impairment of fixed assets 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

In preparing these financial statements, management have made the following judgements: 
Determined whether leases entered into by the College either as a lessor or a lessee are operating 
or finance leases. These decisions depend on an assessment of whether the risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred from the lessor to the lessee on a lease by lease basis.

Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual values, 
where appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may 
vary depending on a number of factors. In reassessing asset lives, factors such as technological 
innovation, maintenance programmes, economic utilisation and physical condition of the assets are 
taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions 
and the remaining life of the asset.

The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a 
number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The 
assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any 
changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed in note 19, will impact the carrying amount of 
the pension liability. Furthermore, a roll forward approach which projects results from the latest full 
actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2022 has been used by the actuary in valuing the 
pensions liability at 31 July 2024. Any differences between the figures derived from the roll forward 
approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability. 
The College has not recognised the asset that is reported in the actuary's FRS 102 pension 
calculations, as there is uncertainty over whether the College would benefit from the asset through 
reduced contributions in the future.

The College considers whether tangible fixed assets are impaired. Where an indication of 
impairment is identified the estimation of the recoverable amount of the asset or the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit is required. These will require an estimation of the future cash 
flow and selection of appropriate discount rates in order to calculate the net present value of those 
cash flows.
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3 FUNDING BODY GRANTS
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

ESFA - Recurrent grant - 16-18 3,741      3,626      
ESFA - Adult Education Budget 138         222         
Devolved authority - Adult Education Budget 127         138         
ESFA - Non-recurrent grants 23            -               
ESFA - Teachers’ Pension grant 129         91            
Release of government capital grants 110         106         

4,268      4,183      

4 OTHER GRANTS
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Other grant income 5              77            

5 TUITION FEES
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Tuition fees 7,689      6,497      

6 OTHER INCOME
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Residences 309         297         
Other income generating activities 185         298         
Miscellaneous income 71            56            

565         651         

7 INVESTMENT INCOME
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Other interest receivable 319         191         
Net interest on defined benefit pension asset (note 19) 213         -               

532         191         
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8 STAFF COSTS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION

2024 2023
Number Number

Teaching staff 43            42            
Non-teaching staff 196         187         

239         229         

2024 2023
£’000 £’000

Staff costs for the above persons:
Wages and salaries 5,943      5,403      
Social security costs 529         473         
Other pension costs 1,223      1,702      

7,695      7,578      

Key management personnel compensation

Emoluments of key management personnel, Accounting Officer and other higher paid staff

2024 2023
Number Number

6              8              

The average number of persons (including key management personnel) employed by the College during 
the year, expressed as average headcount was:

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the College and are represented by the College leadership 
team which comprises the Principal, the Vice-Principals, the Director of Technical, Estates and Facilities, 
and the Clerk to the Governors. The figures below include interim postholders. There are a total of six 
key management roles.

The number of key management personnel including the Accounting 
Officer was: 
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8 STAFF COSTS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION (continued)

2024 2023
Number Number

£5,001 to £10,000 -               1              
£10,001 to £15,000 -               1              
£40,001 to £45,000 -               1              
£45,001 to £50,000 1              -               
£50,001 to £55,000 -               1              
£55,001 to £60,000 1              -               
£60,001 to £65,000 1              -               
£65,001 to £70,000 -               1              
£70,001 to £75,000 -               2              
£75,001 to £80,000 1              -               
£80,001 to £85,000 1              -               
£110,001 to £115,000 -               1              
£115,001 to £120,000 1              -               

6              8              

No other staff had remuneration over £60,000.

Key management personnel (including the Accounting Officer) total compensation is as follows:
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Salaries 440         436         
Pension contributions 102         81            

Total emoluments 542         517         

2024 2023
£’000 £’000

Salary 117         110         
Pension Contributions 26            24            

Total 143         134         

There were no amounts due to key management personnel that were waived in the year, nor any salary 
sacrifice arrangements in place.

The number of key management personnel and other staff, who received emoluments, excluding 
pension contributions but including benefits in kind, in the following ranges was:

The above compensation includes amounts payable to the Principal and Chief Executive who is the 
Accounting Officer and who is also the highest paid member of staff. Their pay and remuneration is as 
follows:
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8 STAFF COSTS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION (continued)

2024 2023
£’000 £’000

Principal’s basic salary as a multiple of the median basic salary of all staff 4.6          4.3          

4.6          4.3          

Governors’ remuneration

The pension contributions in respect of the Accounting Officer and key management personnel are in 
respect of employer’s contributions to the Teachers’ Pension Scheme and Local Government Pension 
Scheme and are paid at the same rate as for other employees.

The Corporation has not adopted the Senior Staff Remuneration code.  It is however compliant with the 
minimum standards of the code. The remuneration package of key management staff, including the 
Principal and Chief Executive, is subject to review by the remuneration committee where a pay award is 
made that is not in line with the award given across the whole staff body.  Due regard is given to 
expected performance and value for money. This includes benchmarking and comparison to the 
broader market.

The Principal and Chief Executive reports to the Chair of the Governing Body, who undertakes an annual 
review of performance against the College’s overall objectives using both qualitative and quantitative 
measures of performance.

The relationship between the Accounting Officer’s emoluments expressed as a multiple of all other 
employees based on full time equivalents is set out below for both basic salary and total remuneration:

The Accounting Officer and the staff members only receive remuneration in respect of services they 
provide undertaking their roles of Principal and staff members under contracts of employment and not 
in respect of their roles as governors. The other members of the Corporation did not receive any 
payments from the College in respect of their roles as governors.

During the year, total expenses of £2,123 (2023: £355) were paid to or on behalf of two (2023: 1) 
governors in respect of travel and subsistence and other out of pocket expenses incurred in the course 
of their duties. 

Principal’s total remuneration as a multiple of the median total 
remuneration of all staff
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9 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Teaching costs 451         355         
Non-teaching costs 2,097      1,662      
Premises costs 942         774         

Total 3,490      2,791      

Surplus/(deficit) before taxation is stated after charging/(crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration – financial statements audit 24            24            
Internal auditors’ remuneration 14            12            
Operating leases – equipment* 3              4              

*Operating Lease commitments
The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases is as follows:

Payments due
Not later than one year 5              1              
Later than one year and not later than five years 20            -               

10 INTEREST PAYABLE AND OTHER FINANCE COSTS
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Interest on bank loans 86            93            
Net interest on EPP pension liability (note 16) 1              1              
Net interest on defined benefit pension liability (note 19) -               105         

Total 87            199         
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11 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost or Valuation

At 1 August 2023 17,945    2,163      20,108    
Additions 310         289         599         
Disposals -               (515) (515)

At 31 July 2024 18,255    1,937      20,192    

Depreciation

At 1 August 2023 8,125      1,744      9,869      
Charge for year 376         238         614         
Disposals -               (515) (515)

At 31 July 2024 8,501      1,467      9,968      

Net book value

At 31 July 2024 9,754      470         10,224    

Net book value

At 1 August 2023 9,820      419         10,239    

Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost -               -               -               
Aggregate depreciation based on cost -               -               -               

Net book value based on cost -               -               -               

Other tangible fixed assets inherited from the Local Education Authority at incorporation have been 
valued by the Corporation on a depreciated replacement cost basis with the assistance of independent 
professional advice.

Freehold 
land and 
buildings Equipment

Inherited land and buildings were valued for the purpose of the 1994 financial statements at 
depreciated replacement cost by a firm of independent Chartered Surveyors except for residential 
properties with a value of £130,000 where open market value was available.

If inherited fixed assets had not been revalued they would have been included at the following historical 
cost amounts:

Freehold 
land and 
buildings Equipment
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12 DEBTORS
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 173         115         
Prepayments and accrued income 389         292         

562         407         

13 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Bank loans 128         128         
Trade creditors 378         252         
Other taxation and social security 112         85            
Accruals and deferred income 974         1,360      
Deferred Income – government grants (capital) 102         115         
Amounts owed to the ESFA 134         111         
Pension contributions -               128         
Holiday pay accrual 342         340         

2,170      2,519      

14 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR 
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Bank loans 1,248      1,376      
Deferred Income – government grants (capital) 2,425      2,522      

3,673      3,898      
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15 BORROWINGS
2024 2023

£’000 £’000
Bank loans 
Bank loans are repayable as follows:
In one year or less (see note 13) 128         128         
Between one and two years 128         128         
Between two and five years 384         384         
In five years or more 736         864         

Total 1,376      1,504      

16 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 August 2023 -               33            33            
Payments in the year -               (5) (5)
(Credited)/charged to income and expenditure in the year (303) 1              (302)
Actuarial losses in the year 303         1              304         

At 31 July 2024 -               30            30            

Principal assumptions for this calculation are:
2024 2023

Interest Rate 4.8% 5.0%
Inflation Rate 2.8% 2.8%

The loans comprise an estate master plan loan for £3,200,000 with Barclays Bank. The loan is charged at 
a fixed interest rate of 5.95% and with quarterly capital repayments starting in June 2010 and finishing 
in March 2035. The loan is secured against the College’s assets. 

Defined 
benefit 

obligations
Enhanced 
Pensions

Defined benefit obligations relate to the liabilities under the College’s membership of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. Further details are given in note 19.

The enhanced pension provision relates to the cost of staff who have already left the College’s 
employment.

This provision has been recalculated in accordance with guidance issued by the funding bodies.
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17 NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Surplus after tax for the year 1,173      466         

Adjustment for:
Depreciation 614         565         
Pensions costs less contributions payable (223) 542         
Interest payable 87            199         
Investment income (532) (191)
(Profit)/loss on disposal of assets -               -               

Operating cash flow before movements in working capital 1,119      1,581      

Decrease in creditors (318) (819)
Increase in debtors (155) (192)

Cash generated from operations 646         570         

18  ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET FUNDS

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cash in hand and at bank 5,855      152         6,007      
Bank loans (1,504) 128         (1,376)

Net funds 4,351      280         4,631      

19 RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Total pension cost for the year
2024 2023

£’000 £’000
Local Government Pension Scheme:

Employers contributions paid 938         719         
FRS 102 (benefit)/charge (90) 547         

Charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 848         1,266      

Enhanced pension charge to Statement of Comprehensive Income -               -               

Teachers’ Pension Scheme: Employer’s contributions paid 366         310         

All other employers contributions 9              126         

Total pension cost for year within staff costs 1,223      1,702      

The College's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: The Teachers' Pensions Scheme 
England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff and the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) for non-teaching staff. Both are multi-employer defined-benefit schemes.

At
1st August 

2023 Cashflow

At
31st July 

2024
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19 RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

TEACHERS’ PENSION SCHEME

Valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme

The employers pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to £366,000 (2023: £310,000).

Total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for 
service to the effective date of £262,000 million and notional assets (estimated future contributions 
together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of £222,200 million, giving a notional 
past service deficit of £39,800 million

The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries. The 
latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was 31 March 2020 and of the LGPS 31 March 2022.

Contributions amounting to £nil (2023: £127,718) were payable to the schemes at 31 July and are 
included within creditors.

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by 
the Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. 

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a ‘pay as-you-go’ basis, and along with 
employers’ contributions, are credited to the Exchequer. 

The SCAPE discount rate, set by HMT, is used to determine the notional investment return. The 
current SCAPE rate is 1.7% above the rate of CPI, and is based on the Office for Budget Responsibility’s 
forecast for long-term GDP growth.

The TPS is a multi-employer pension plan and there is insufficient information to account for the 
scheme as a defined benefit plan so it is accounted for as a defined contribution plan. 

Not less than every four years the Government Actuary (GA), using normal actuarial principles, conducts 
a formal actuarial valuation of the TPS. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future 
contributions. Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future 
costs, design of benefits and many other factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried 
out as at 31 March 2020. 

The valuation report was published by the Department for Education in October 2023. The key 
elements of the valuation and subsequent consultation are:

The next valuation result is due to be implemented from 1 April 2027.

A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers’ Pensions website.
(https://www.teacherspensions.co.uk/news/employers/2023/10/valuation-result.aspx)

Employer contribution rates from 1 April 2024 set at 28.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% 
administration levy), compared to the current rate of 23.68%
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19 RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME

Principal Actuarial Assumptions

2024 2023

Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.75% 3.00%
Rate of increase in salaries 3.75% 4.00%
Rate of increase for pensions 2.75% 3.00%
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 5.00% 5.05%

The average life expectancy for a pensioner retiring at 65 on the reporting date is:
2024 2023

Years Years
Retiring today
Males 20.3        20.3        
Females 23.5        23.5        

Retiring in 20 years
Males 20.8        20.9        
Females 24.5        24.6        

The College’s share of the assets in the plan at the balance sheet date was:

2024 2023
£’000 £’000

Equities 16,215    19,652    
Bonds 11,127    6,069      
Property 2,225      2,023      
Cash/liquidity 2,225      1,156      

Total fair value of Assets 31,792    28,900    

Actual Return on plan assets 2,376      (88)

The LGPS is a funded defined benefit scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee administered 
funds.  The total contribution made for the year ended 31 July 2024 was £1,188,000 (2023: £924,000) 
of which employers contributions totalled £938,000 (2023: £719,000) and employees contributions 
totalled £250,000 (2023: £205,000).

The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of the fund at 31 March 2022 updated 
to 31 July 2024 by a qualified independent actuary:

Fair value of 
assets at

Fair value of 
assets at

The agreed contribution rates for 2024/25 fiscal year are 22.6% for employers (2023/24 fiscal year: 
22.6%) and range from 5.5% to 12.5% for employees depending on salary  (2023/24 fiscal year: from 
5.5% to 12.5%).
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19 RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Analysis of the amount recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Current service cost (848) (1,266)
Past Service cost -               -               

(848) (1,266)

Amounts included in investment income/(interest payable)
Net interest on the net defined benefit pension asset 213         (105)

Total operating charge (635) (1,371)

Amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Return on pension plan assets 904         (1,091)
Administration charges -               -               
Past service costs, including curtailments -               -               
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of plan liabilities 994         7,141      
Changes in demographic assumptions 52            802         
Experience (loss)/gain on defined benefit obligations (822) 725         
Other actuarial loss -               (5)
Movement in notional asset not being recognised (1,431) (4,180)

Amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (303) 3,392      

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Opening defined benefit obligation 24,720    31,386    
Current Service cost 848         1,266      
Interest cost 1,259      1,113      
Contributions by scheme participants 250         205         
Change in financial assumptions (994) (7,141)
Change in demographic assumptions (52) (802)
Experience loss/(gain) on defined benefit obligation 822         (725)
Past service costs, including curtailments -               -               
Benefits paid (672) (582)

Closing defined benefit obligation 26,181 24,720
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19 RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

Fair value of plan assets at start of period 28,900    28,646    
Interest on plan assets 1,472      1,008      
Return on plan assets 904         (1,091)
Employer contributions 938         719         
Contributions by scheme participants 250         205         
Benefits paid (672) (582)
Administration expenses -               -               
Other actuarial loss -               (5)

Fair value of plan assets at end of period 31,792    28,900    

20 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Contracts for future capital expenditure not provided 147         -               

21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

22 AMOUNTS DISBURSED AS AGENT
2024 2023

£’000 £’000
Discretionary support funds

Funding Body Grants 31            47            
Disbursed to learners (50) (59)
Administration costs (2) (3)

Balance unspent as at 31 July, included in creditors (21) (15)

Funding body grants are available solely for learners. In the majority of instances, the College only acts 
as a paying agent. In these circumstances, the grants and related disbursements are therefore excluded 
from the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The actuary reports a pension asset at 31 July 2024 of £5,611k (2023: £4,180k). However this has not 
been recognised in the financial statements due to the uncertain nature of its future benefit to the 
College.

Transactions with key management personnel are detailed in note 8. There have been no other related 
party transactions in the year (2023: none).
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23 CONTINGENT LIABILITY

A former student has issued a claim against the College. The College is seeking legal advice but has not 
received information on the likely quantification of this claim.
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